United Nations Acsis215r.10

2R\, General Assembly Distr.: Genera
\\/‘ )\/’ Fifty-second session 11 February 1998
NS

o English
7 Official Records Original: Spanish

Sixth Committee

Summary record of the 10th meeting
Held at Headquarters, New Y ork, on Friday, 17 October 1997, at 10 am.

Chairman: ME. TOMKA ..o (Slovakia)

Contents
Agendaitem 146: United Nations Decade of International Law (continued)
(@) United Nations Decade of International Law (continued)

(b) Action to be taken in 1999 dedicated to the centennial of the first International
Peace Conference and to the closing of the United Nations Decade of International
Law (continued)

(c) Draft guiding principles for international negotiations (continued)

Thisrecord is subject to correction. Corrections should be sent under the signature of a member of the
delegation concerned within one week of the date of publication to the Chief of the Official Records
Editing Section, room DC2-750, 2 United Nations Plaza, and incorporated in a copy of the record.

Corrections will be issued after the end of the session, in a separate corrigendum for each Committee.

97-82132 (E)



A/C.6/52/SR.10

The meeting was called to order at 10.10 a.m.

Agenda item 146: United Nations Decade of
International Law (continued)

(a) United Nations Decade of International Law
(continued) (A/52/363)

Action to be taken in 1999 dedicated to the
centennial of the first International Peace
Conference and to the closing of the United
Nations Decade of International Law (continued)
(A/C.6/52/3 and A/C.6/52/L.2)

(c) Draft guiding principles for international
negotiations (continued) (A/52/141)

1.  Mr. Kerma (Algeria) noted with satisfaction the
progress made in the early years of the United Nations Decade
of International Law, especialy the entry into operation of the
United Nations Tribunal for the Law of the Sea, the adoption
of the United Nations Commission on International Trade
Law (UNCITRAL) Model Law on Cross-Border Insolvency
(A/52/17, annex 1) and the holding of the United Nations
Congress on Public International Law in 1995. In terms of
future activities, he was looking forward with interest to the
forthcoming Colloquium on the progressive devel opment and
codification of international law.

(b)

2. International law should be developed and applied in
a universal manner; to that end, all existing legal systems
must be represented, and the interests of as many States as
possible must be taken into account. He therefore noted with
satisfaction the regular Secretariat publications concerning
the status of ratifications of and accessions to multilateral
treaties, and viewed with interest the future creation of an
audio-visual library that would make it possible to
disseminate international law via modern means of
communication.

3. The current international climate facilitated the
systematic use of peaceful means of resolving international
conflicts; it would be useful to examine the role of the
International Court of Justicein that area.

4. The draft guiding principles for international
negotiations (A/52/141), submitted by Mongolia, constituted
an innovative item which deserved to be considered in greater
depth by the Sixth Committee. He stressed that the promotion
of and respect for international law should be viewed from the
standpoint of reducing tensions and achieving world peace
through respect for existing rules or the development of new
onesin the framework of the purposes and principles of the
Charter of the United Nations.

5. The proposal of the Netherlands and the Russian
Federation concerning the action to be taken in 1999
dedicated to the centennial of the first International Peace
Conference and to the closing of the United Nations Decade
of International Law (A/C.6/52/L.2) had so far enjoyed
unanimous support; he, too, confirmed his support for it. Such
action would have a positive impact on the progressive
development of law in general and international law in
particular; in order to ensure its success, broad participation
by States should be encouraged.

6. Mr. Kawamura (Japan) stressed the importance of the
Colloquium on the progressive devel opment and codification
of international law, the purpose of which would be to
generate practical suggestions for enhancing the working
capacity of the International Law Commission. His country
had made a financial contribution in order to ensure the
success of the Colloquium.

7. Recognizing the need to attain the goals of the Decade,
his country had participated in various important international
treaties and conventions, such as the United Nations
Convention on the Law of the Sea, which it had ratified in
1996. His Government had also taken an active part in the
negotiations on the establishment of an international criminal
court and the elaboration of aframework convention on the
law of the non-navigational uses of international
watercourses. A symposium organized recently by the
Japanese Association of International Law had been a great
success.

8.  With regard to dissemination of the United Nations
Treaty Collection via the Internet, he concurred with
conclusions (c) and (d) set out in paragraph 56 of document
A/52/363. With regard to the translation of the list of titles
of treaties (A/52/363, sect. V1), hewas of the view that, while
trandation entailed an additional cost, an equivalent amount
could be saved in another area; a concrete plan, indicating the
additional cost of translation and the measures to be taken to
offset it, should be presented.

9.  Hefully supported draft resolution A/C.6/52/L.2 and
commended the Netherlands, the Russian Federation and the
“Friends of 1999” for their efforts.

10. With regard to the draft guiding principles for
international negotiations (A/52/141), submitted by
Mongolia, he believed, first, that some of the principles, such
asthose mentioned in paragraph 1 (a) and (b) of annex |1 of
the document, were already well documented in various
international instruments and should not be restated, and,
secondly, that the obligations mentioned in paragraph 1 (k)
and (I) were not established rules of international law and
should be considered carefully and in depth.



A/C.6/52/SR.10

11. Mr. Kachurenko (Ukraine) said that his delegation
was looking forward to the activities of the fourth term of the
United Nations Decade of International Law, especially since
Ukraine, as anew European democracy, was concerned with
the strengthening of theinternational legal order and the role
of international law, especially treaties, in relations between
States. His Government had just concluded very important
political treaties with the Russian Federation and Romania
and a border agreement with Belarus, the first of its kind
between the newly independent States; it had also concluded
about 170 bilateral agreements and become a party to several
multilateral treaties.

12. Hisdelegation supported the draft resol ution submitted
by the Russian Federation and the Netherlands
(A/C.6/52/L.2), of which it would become a sponsor. In order
to ensure the success of the activities envisaged therein,
means should be devised which went beyond the
commemorative format and promoted the purposes of the
Decade, in particular through joint efforts to strengthen
international peace and security, achieve full compliance with
international law and facilitate its progressive devel opment.
To that end, the activities should not be limited to the
consideration of humanitarian law, the laws and customs of
war and the settlement of international disputes; analysis
should cover a broad range of issues, such as the
contemporary concept of self-determination and the forms it
took in the context of the integration and disintegration of
States, the creation of a special statute providing legally
binding guarantees of international security for countries that
abandoned nuclear weapons, the succession of States
(including its military aspects), the regulation of sustainable
development, a comprehensive approach to combating
international terrorism and, in particular, the elaboration of
the legal aspects of economic security, especially norms that
would definitely restrict the use by States, in their
international relations, of the threat or use of economic
pressure that was contrary to international law with a view
to achieving political advantages. For those purposes to be
fully achieved, national and international associations, the
national committees for the Decade, universities and other
academic institutions should be more actively involved in the
process.

13. Priority attention should be given to the publication and
dissemination of information over the Internet. In that
connection, he paid tribute to the work carried out in relation
to the United Nations Treaty Collection.

14. Hisdeegation was carefully studying the draft guiding
principles for international negotiations submitted by
Mongolia (A/52/141), and would offer its views on them in
due course.

15. Mr. Nakandala (Sri Lanka) welcomed the note by the
Secretary-General on the United Nations Decade of
International Law (A/52/363). His Government had taken
various steps to promote the acceptance of and respect for the
principlesof international law, the most recent of which had
been the ratification of the Optional Protocol to the
International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights. It was
important to emphasize the organic relationship between
international law and the domestic law of States, since most
of the fundamental elements of international law had been
incorporated in the domestic law of many countries.
Moreover, Sri Lanka had made noteworthy progress in
promoting international law. With regard to formal education,
the newly established Bandaranaike International Diplomatic
Training Institute provided various courses, not only to
members of Sri Lanka' s diplomatic and consular services, but
also to many other participants from the public and private
sectors. Other higher-education institutions, such as the
Bandaranaike Centre for International Studies, the University
of Colombo and the Open University of Sri Lanka, had also
been offering coursesin international law for sometime. Non-
governmental organizations had also been activein promoting
the principles of international law.

16. He welcomed the convening of an international
colloquium to commemorate the fiftieth anniversary of the
International Law Commission and the measure taken by the
Officeof Legal Affairsto create a comprehensive electronic
databasefor United Nations treaties. In connection with that
database, he noted that almost all the higher-education
institutions in Sri Lanka were connected to the Internet. As
for the proposal to set up a mechanism to collect access fees
from database users, his delegation, like many others,
believed that the universal application of such a mechanism
would hinder the free flow of information, which would
contradict the aim of the United Nations to promote the
principlesof international law. The problem could be solved
by designating in each country afoca point where the facility
would be free of charge; the focal point could be a university
where international law was taught.

17. Hisdelegation supported the draft guiding principles
for international negotiations submitted by Mongolia
(A/52/141), relating to agendaitem 146 (c), and believed they
should be carefully examined. With respect to agenda item
146 (b), entitled “Action to be taken in 1999 dedicated to the
centennial of the first International Peace Conference and to
the closing of the United Nations Decade of |nternational
Law”, he welcomed the programme of action submitted by the
Russian Federation and the Netherlands, and noted with
particular interest the events it was planned to hold in The
Hague. Lastly, he noted with satisfaction the proposal to



A/C.6/52/SR.10

devote a section of the Organization’s Internet web-site to the
1999 celebrations.

18. Mr. Mirzaee Yengejeh (Idamic Republic of Iran) said
that, despite progress made during the United Nations Decade
of International Law, such as the setting up of a working
group of the Sixth Committee to coordinate the activities of
the Decade and the holding of the United Nations Congress
on Public International Law and various symposia and
seminars throughout the world, there had been an increasing
tendency on the part of some countries to take unilateral
coercive economic measures which contravened the purposes
of the Decade and violated the norms and basic principles of
international law. Such unilateral measures must continue to
be opposed.

19. At the current juncture, the main question before the
Sixth Committee was how to bring the United Nations Decade
for Internationa Law to a close. His delegation supported the
proposal submitted by the Russian Federation and the
Netherlands to celebrate the centennial of the first
International Peace Conference and the closing of the United
Nations Decade of International Law.

20. Ladly, hisdelegation supported the proposal made by
Paraguay, on behalf of the Rio Group, that the Secretariat
should include an assessment of the fulfilment of the purposes
of the Decade in its report to the General Assembly at its next
session, and believed that the Sixth Committee, for its part,
should draft a declaration on the results of the Decade to be
adopted in 1999, at the closure of the Decade.

21. Mr. Syargeeu (Belarus) said that his delegation was
pleased that a sub-site with material on various topics of
international law had been added to the Organization’s home
page on the Internet. That would be of interest to Member
States and would make it possible to reduce the costs of
United Nations printed publications. However, he hoped that
it would be possible to consult the documentation in all the
working languages of the Organization. His delegation was
also pleased that the Secretariat was setting up an audio-
visual library on international law to which all Permanent
Missionswould have access free of charge. It agreed that user
fees should be charged for access to the United Nations
Treaty Collection on the Internet, provided that they were
reasonable and took into account the situation of the
developing countries and the countries with economies in
trangition, since both groups of countries were in process of
adjusting their national legal systems to the norms of
international law.

22. Itwould be very worthwhile to organize a colloguium
on the progressive development of international law and its
codification, since that would undoubtedly be a significant

contribution in that sphere. Asto the encouragement of the
teaching, study, dissemination and wider appreciation of
international law, his delegation welcomed the draft
resolution submitted by the Russian Federation and the
Netherlands on action to be taken dedicated to the 1999
centennial of the first International Peace Conference and to
the closing of the United Nations Decade of International Law
and hoped that the document would produce concrete results.
He had aso heard that in Europe a project for the
dissemination of information on the practice of Statesin the
area of State succession had been undertaken; that was of
great importance to Belarus, in view of the grave problems
which had arisen in respect of State succession in the case of
the former Soviet Union.

23. With regard to the implementation of the programme
for the Decade, Belarus had supported the establishment of
aninternational criminal court and had signed the Convention
on the Safety of United Nations and Associated Personnel, the
Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone
Layer and the Convention on the Prohibition of the
Development, Production, Stockpiling and Use of Chemical
Weapons and on Their Destruction, and intended to accede
to other international instrumentsin the future. Lastly, there
were many institutions in Belarus concerned with the
teaching, study and dissemination of international law and
progress was being made in that sphere.

24. Mr. Filippi Balestra (San Marino) said that he
supported the basic principles set forth in the draft resolution
submitted by Mongolia concerning guiding principles for
international negotiations. In addition, he supported the draft
resolution submitted by the Russian Federation and the
Netherlands and, although he was satisfied with the current
version of thetext, he would not object to it being amended,
aslong as there was support from a majority of members of
the Committee.

25.  Mr. Oussoupov (Kyrgyzstan) said that the end of the
cold war had made way for new relations of partnership
instead of the old confrontation between blocs. In those
relations, the threat or use of force were rejected and the
importance of negotiations and of the solution of conflicts by
peaceful means was stressed. In that connection, his
del egation welcomed Mongolia s proposal to draw up guiding
principles to help conduct more effective international
negotiations and ensure more equitabl e participation on the
basis of international law. It supported the idea of drawing up
a code of conduct among States which would promote the
establishment of an atmosphere of trust in negotiations. If
negotiations were to be successful, however, there must be
the political will to respect its provisions.



A/C.6/52/SR.10

26. Hisdelegation supported the draft resol ution submitted
by the Netherlands and the Russian Federation on the
celebration of the centennial of the first International Peace
Conference.

27. His Government had great interest in accessing the
Internet to obtain the texts of agreements and treatiesand in
that respect would consider the financial repercussions for the
least developed countries.

28. Mr. Patriota (Brazil) said that he welcomed the
proposal made by Mongoliain document A/52/141, which
contained an explanatory memorandum and a draft resolution
proposing a set of guiding principles for international
negotiations. That proposal addressed a subject which the
Committee should consider within the framework of its
deliberations on the United Nations Decade of International
Law. Mongolia' s proposal showed awillingness to enter into
dialogue and a spirit of realism and flexibility. The idea of the
end of the cold war should be translated into concrete
expressions such as the one being proposed, given the
sometimes contradictory signals that still loomed in the
contemporary landscape.

29. His delegation was interested in using the Special
Committee on the Charter of the United Nations and on the
Strengthening of the Rol e of the Organization as a forum for
assisting delegationsin tackling legal and political problems
arising from the confrontation of Charter provisions with the
contemporary scenario, which it regarded as a transitional
phase which would soon be entering its second decade.

30. Hisdelegation saw merit in adopting a set of principles
for international negotiations, based fundamentally on the
Charter and current United Nations practice, as away to help
consolidate an atmosphere inimical to the threat or use of
force, to discriminatory attitudes and to arbitrary unilateral
acts through the affirmation of multilateralism.

31. Ms. Arystanbekova (Kazakhstan) said that particular
support should be given to United Nations activitiesinvol ving
promotion of the acceptance of and respect for the principles
of international law and encouragement of its progressive
development and codification. The rapid development of
international cooperation within the framework of United
Nations conventions, many of which had become universal
in scope, could serve as an indicator of the efficiency of such
activity.

32. Astothe need to continue work on the codification and
progressive development of international law, she wished to
stressthe research work carried out within the I nternational
Law Commission, which was not only of theoretical value but
also of considerable practical significance and made it

possibleto elaborate international legal standardsin areas of
particular interest, including succession of States, which was
of particular concern to countries like Kazakhstan. Her
delegation was gratified that the consideration of international
liability for injurious consequences arising out of acts not
prohibited by international law was continuing and that the
relevant specialized agencies of the United Nations were
analysing various aspects of contract law, environmental law,
etc.

33.  One of the necessary conditions for strengthening the
role and importance of international law was a broad
exchange of opinions on major problemsin the international
law-making process and definition of new approaches that
reflected the development of international relations.
Kazakhstan also supported the initiative of the Russian
Federation and the Netherlands to convene the third
International Peace Conference in 1999. In its view, the
agenda of the conference could include the consideration of
the results of international cooperation on implementation of
the goals of the Decade.

34. Her delegation noted with regret that delegates from
newly independent States, which were particularly interested
in acquiring experience in international law-making, were
still unable to participate in those activities because the
United Nations lacked the financial resources to provide the
necessary assistance.

35. Theeffectiveness of internationa cooperation depended
onthedesire of each State to conduct itsinternal and foreign
policies in accordance with principles and norms of
international law. For that reason, all the laws enacted in
Kazakhstan had been submitted to international expertsin
relevant organizations. Constitutionally, the norms of
international law superseded the norms of national legislation,
and that had been reflected in the Criminal and Civil Codes.
His Government had also acceded to many multilateral
treaties on the environment, disarmament, international
humanitarian law, internationa trade and the struggl e against
terrorism, or had expressed its intention to accept their
provisions.

36. Thedesireto dispose of certain problems in inter-State
relations could be seen in Kazakhstan' s efforts to bring about
a rapid settlement of the question of the legal status of the
Caspian Sea. Its position on the matter was based on the
application of specific provisions of the 1982 United Nations
Convention on the Law of the Sea. Kazakhstan advocated the
resolution of the issue on the basis of consensus, respect for
the sovereign rights of States, and adherence to the principles
of international law.



A/C.6/52/SR.10

37. Inthat spirit it would continue working actively for
achievement of the goals of the United Nations Decade of
International Law.

38. Mr. Rodriguez Parrilla (Cuba) said that the item
called for reflection on the international community’ s attitude
and real contribution to the observance and application of
international law as a whole. The legitimacy and relevance
of the recognized principles and norms of international law
was unchalenged. Nevertheless, some States and
Governments that advocated the primacy of international law
and international relations had unilaterally reinterpreted
international law, pretending to be unaware of the fact that
the world, athough interdependent, was still as a whole
marked by diversity, both in political thinking and in legal
doctrine. Some States continued preaching the miracle of
globalization at the end of the cold war, when in reality
devel opments showed that it was conflicts and inequalities
that were being globalized, even as the threat and silent use
of political and economic coercion intensified.

39. Cubatherefore denounced such selective interpretations
of international law to reflect political and hegemonic
interests, just as it did the shameful continuation of the
blockade that constituted a flagrant violation of international
law. The Helms-Burton Act, as well, was one of the more
recent violations of customary international law, in that it
sought to step up the aggression and the blockade that had
been declared against Cuba almost 40 years earlier, by
imposing an extra-territorial application of the law in respect
of other sovereign States.

40. It was a source of concern that not many developing
countries were involved in the international negotiations on
the drafting of international legal instruments aimed at
combating the latest international dangers and threats. On the
other hand, compounding that shortcoming, there were the
novel theories on the law of treaties, among them those that
had cometo associate the traditional universality clause with
the very small number of States parties required for the entry
into force of the new international treaties. Under the
circumstances, it would be difficult to speak of universality
or democracy in the progressive promotion and devel opment
of international law. Accordingly, Cuba recognized the merit
of Mongolia's proposal and favoured its substantive
consideration in the Committee.

41. His delegation wished to express its support and
appreciation to New Zealand and the other delegations that
had sought to keep the item under consideration on the
agenda. It also expressed support for the Governments that
were advocating a special celebration of the closing of the
Decade and the centennial of the first International Peace

Conference, in particular the Netherlands and the Russian
Federation.

42. Mr. Hamdan (Lebanon) welcomed the note by the
Secretary-General on the United Nations Decade of
International Law (A/52/363). In that connection, he
supported the holding of a colloguium to commemorate the
fiftieth anniversary of the establishment of the International
Law Commission. He underscored the importance of
paragraph 9 of that document stating that the proceedings of
the colloquium would be published, which would ideally be
aprelude to the operation of the audio-visual library that the
United Nations was in the process of setting up under the
aegis of the Advisory Committee on the United Nations
Programme of Assistance in the Teaching, Study,
Dissemination and Wider Appreciation of International Law.
He proposed that the Sixth Committee should recommend to
the General Assembly the establishment of national
international law commissions to study the issues on the
agendaof the International Law Commission and assist it in
its research.

43. As to the development of international law, his
delegation took note of the proposed activities for the next
two yearsto be undertaken by the Advisory Committee, and
reiterated its support for the establishment of an audio-visual
library of international law and for the Secretariat proposal
that alegal colloquium should be held in The Hague each of
the next two yearsin French and English successively, which
would make it possible for more countries to attend the
colloquium and benefit from it, and would ensure a broader
representation of all the legal systems of the world. It
expressed its appreciation to the States that had helped to
finance the colloquiums and the programmes for the teaching
of international law, especially the British Government for the
fundsit had given for scholarships for the study of maritime
law. Lebanon wel comed the speedy application and utilization
of the Internet to disseminate international law.

44. Hisdelegation thanked Mongolia for the submission of
the draft guiding principles for international negotiations
(A/52/141), which were valuable because they highlighted
and brought together a set of known principles.

45. He took note with interest of the draft resolution
submitted by the Netherlands and the Russian Federation
concerning action to be taken dedicated to the 1999
centennial of the first International Peace Conference and to
the closing of the United Nations Decade of International Law
(A/C.6/52/L.2), as well as the programme of action for the
celebration of that centennial (A/C.6/52/3). Note should be
taken of paragraph 17 of the latter, referring to the General
Assembly’ sappeal to the developed States to make voluntary



A/C.6/52/SR.10

contributions to finance the participation of representatives
of the devel oping States. He supported the establishment of
the “Friends of 1999” platform and believed that Western
Asiashould be represented, in order to bring the viewpoints
of that region to the preparations for the centennial. He
therefore supported the appeal made by the Islamic Republic
of Iran and the Movement of Non-Aligned Countries.

46. Mr. Enkhsaikhan (Mongolia) said that he appreciated
the support of delegationsfor the draft guiding principles for
international negotiations. The reservations expressed by
some delegations in the working group were normal at that
early stage and showed that specific questions required closer
study, such as the third-party settlement of disputes, the
importance of the peaceful settlement of disputes, the notion
of inadmissible preconditions and the like. He explained that
in drafting the guiding principles no attempt was made to
establish a hierarchy among them, for that had already been
done by the Charter of the United Nations and the Manila
Declaration on the Peaceful Settlement of International
Disputes. It should be recalled that, in any case, the free
choice by States of peaceful means for settling their disputes
should prevail. It was necessary to systematize the guiding
principles and render them more effective, and he was
prepared to work with other delegations in doing so.

47. Ms. Willson (United States of America) expressed
disappointment at the statement of the Cuban delegation,
which she accused of demeaning the debate by politicizing
it. Shetotaly rejected the accusations of the Cuban delegation
which were baseless and politically motivated and should be
considered not by the Sixth Committee but by other bodies
of the General Assembly in which they had already been
raised.

48. Ms. Cueto (Cuba) said that Cuba’ s position in the Sixth
Committee and in the General Assembly had always been a
constructive and consistent one. The embargo imposed by the
United States of America against Cuba was a flagrant
violation of international law which Cuba had a right to
denounce in all forums, including the Sixth Committee, in
which the principles of international law were discussed.

49. Mr. Lavoyer (Observer for the International
Committee of the Red Cross), speaking at the invitation of the
Chairman, said that the International Committee of the Red
Cross (ICRC) had consistently lent its support to the
programme of activities for the United Nations Decade of
International Law, whose main objectives were closely
associated with its own effortsto clarify, develop and promote
respect for international humanitarian law. There was need
for further clarification of the rules applicable to situations
that wereinsufficiently or not at all covered by treaty law. In

that connection, the twenty-sixth International Conference of
the Red Cross and Red Crescent had entrusted to the
International Committee the task of preparing, with the
assistance of experts representing the different regions and
legal systems, areport on customary rules of humanitarian
law, which was now well under way. The research being
undertaken into national sources in some 50 States, into
international sources for all aspects of humanitarian law
covered by the report, and into the archives of the
International Committee on approximately 50 recent armed
conflicts was expected to be completed by the end of the
current year. In 1998, afirst assessment of the practices found
would be made. The International Committee would then draft
thefinal report, which would be presented to the international
community in 1999 at the twenty-seventh International
Conference of the Red Cross and Red Crescent.

50. As far as the development of humanitarian law was
concerned, the adoption in Oslo by some 90 States of a new
convention which comprehensively prohibited anti-personnel
landmineswas an extraordinary breakthrough in terms of the
substance of the convention and the process which had
created it. Never before had aweapon in such widespread use
by armed forces throughout the world been totally banned as
aresult of the unacceptable human costs of their use. The new
Convention, which would be opened for signature in Ottawa
on 3 December 1997, was the product of a unique process of
cooperation between States, civil society and international
organizations. The work of the International Campaign to Ban
Landmines and the activities of the Red Cross and Red
Crescent Movement had ensured that the process benefited
from the input of civil society.

51. The International Committee actively supported the
work being done by the United Nations Commission on
Human Rights with a view to adopting an optional protocol
to the Convention on the Rights of the Child concerning the
involvement of children in armed conflicts. The optional
protocol should apply to both government and non-
government forces and to international and non-international
armed conflicts alike. It should set the minimum age for
recruitment, whether voluntary or compulsory, at 18 years and
prohibit any direct or indirect participation in hostilities by
children under that age.

52. The major challenge facing humanitarian law was its
implementation. To that end, the Government of Switzerland
had convened in Genevafrom 19 to 23 January 1998 the first
periodic meeting of States Partiesto the Geneva Conventions
to discuss the security of humanitarian personnel and respect
for humanitarian law in conflictsin which State structures had
broken down. The International Committee had prepared two
background papers outlining the problems and proposing



A/C.6/52/SR.10

some solutions. It hoped that States would take an active part
in the meeting and engage in a fruitful discussion of the
documents. The International Committee also continued to
support fully the efforts being made to ensure the early
establishment of an independent and effective permanent
international criminal court with jurisdiction over war crimes,
crimes against humanity and genocide. With regard to war
crimes, the International Committee had contributed to the
work of the Preparatory Committee by submitting alist of war
crimes which it considered should fall under the court’s
jurisdiction. The court should a so have jurisdiction over war
crimes committed during non-international armed conflicts.
During the previous year, the advisory service on
international humanitarian law of the International Committee
had continued to provide advice to States on how best to adapt
their national legislation to humanitarian law. The advisory
service was comprised of legal experts based in Geneva and
invarious | CRC delegations around the world, supported by
a network of national experts. In the first two years of its
existence, the advisory service had reached well over 50
countries. During thefirst 10 months of 1997, 17 national and
regional seminars had been held around the world. A meeting
of experts held a few weeks previously had discussed the
violations of humanitarian law in national criminal law. A
similar meeting for common-law States would be held in
1998.

53. Inthecurrent situations of tension and conflict, it was
essential to remind those bearing weapons of the prohibition
againgt resorting to indiscriminate violence. The primary aim
of dissemination was to avert and reduce violations of
humanitarian law; the second aim was to secure access to
victims. The International Committee was currently
developing a model manual for use by armed forces, which
would serve as areference tool for military commandersto
incorporate the norms of humanitarian law into the
operational decision-making process. In view of the
multiplicity of forces deployed to restore internal law and
order, the International Committee had expanded its
dissemination activities to cover security and police forces
and had produced a manual on human rights and humanitarian
law for use by such forces. In order to enhance the
effectiveness of its dissemination activities, the International
Committee took into account the importance of local cultural
values and of the use of national human resources. It therefore
tended more and more to encourage the dissemination of the
programmes of the National Red Cross and Red Crescent
Societies.

54. During the previousyear, the International Committee
had increased its cooperation with international organizations
inthefield of humanitarian law. It had established closer ties

with the United Nations, especialy in the area of the teaching
of humanitarian law, and with the Inter-Parliamentary Union.
It also welcomed the regular dialogue which it had with
regional organizations, such as the Organization of African
Unity, the Organization of American States, the Organization
for Security and Cooperation in Europe and the Council of
Europe.

55. The closing of the United Nations Decade of
International Law in 1999 would coincide not only with the
centennial of the first International Peace Conference, held
at The Hague, but also with the fiftieth anniversary of the
Geneva Conventions of 1949. It was thus particularly fitting
that at the end of the millennium the international community
should take stock of the contributions of both events to the
devel opment and codification of humanitarian law with aview
to carrying those achievements over into the next century. The
twenty-seventh International Conference of the Red Cross and
Red Crescent would also take placein 1999. That distinct but
complementary event should provide another opportunity for
a constructive dialogue aimed at improving respect for
humanitarian law and promoting humanitarian action.

56. Inconclusion, the International Committee hoped that
its efforts to clarify, develop and strengthen the
implementation of humanitarian law would make a useful
contribution to the achievement of the goals of the United
Nations Decade of International Law.

57. TheChairman said that the Sixth Committee had thus
concluded its consideration of agenda item 146.

The meeting rose at 12.05 p.m.



